IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-01284

MARTHA KAY STANFORD

APPELLANT

VS

V.F. JEANSWEAR, LP AND FIDELITY & GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. William O. Rutledge III and Valarie B. Hancock of Rutledge, Davis and Harris, PLLC, Counsel for Martha Kay Stanford, Appellant;

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The ALJ showed a clear bias against the claimant by ignoring factual medical evidence that showed a work related injury occurred. The ALJ should have placed more weight on the factual medical evidence that was given by the Claimant's own treating neuro-surgeon rather than an unsubstantiated opinion of a physician who only saw the Claimant once.
- 3. The ALJ showed a clear bias in favor of the Employer and Carrier by her treatment of the parties' witnesses. The Claimant called five witnesses, all of whom were under subpoena. Several of these witnesses were completely disinterested and had no interest in the outcome of the case. Yet, the ALJ placed much greater weight on the testimony of the two biased witnesses who were called by the Employer and Carrier, including a manager as well as an employee who was not under subpoena and who had been ordered to appear and testify by her employer (and was likely being paid for her time).
- 4. The Commission acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner in questioning the Claimant's credibility with no basis.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-01284

MARTHA KAY STANFORD

APPELLANT

VS

V.F. JEANSWEAR, LP AND FIDELITY & GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

The Appellant herewith requests oral argument on the issues at hand before this Court.

Respectfully submitted, this the 10th day of February, 2011.

ATTORNEY FOR MARTHA KAY STANFORD, APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-01284

MARTHA KAY STANFORD

APPELLANT

VS

V.F. JEANSWEAR, LP AND FIDELITY & GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

APPELLANT'S BRIEF OF LAW AND FACT ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

COMES NOW, the Appellant, Martha Kay Stanford, by and through counsel, and submits her Appeal Brief to the Court as follows. Appellant requests **oral argument**.

PREAMBLE

The law in Mississippi, as established by the Supreme Court is that:

"undisputed testimony of a claimant which is not so unreasonable as to be unbelievable, given the factual setting of the claim, generally ought to be accepted as true."

White v. Superior Prods., Inc., 515 So.2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1987). Such testimony may be acted upon even when disputed by other witnesses, and if undisputed and not untrustworthy, must be taken as conclusive proof of the fact. Vardaman S. Dunn, Mississippi Workmen's Compensation § 264 (3d Ed. 1982)(Emphasis added).

In the case *sub judice*, Claimant's testimony that she was injured while working for the Employer/Carrier was not unreasonable or unbelievable. The Employer/Carrier never showed any evidence that Stanford was injured in any other manner. There is no proof or evidence whatsoever that Martha Kay Stanford was not injured while at work as a truck driver for her employer. To the contrary, there is more than ample evidence, including that of eyewitnesses that Stanford was injured while performing her duties for her employer. Several witnesses testified

concerning Stanford's on-the-job injury or her condition before and after the injury. Not one witness testified Stanford was not injured while working.

The Commission's decision was based on the Administrative Law Judge's opinion, which it affirmed, questioning the credibility of Stanford rather than the proven facts. Therefore, "the Commission" and "ALJ" will be used interchangeably in this brief.

The ALJ relied solely on circumstantial evidence and one biased witness who admitted she was "required" to testify at the hearing by the Employer. There is also one incorrectly answered interrogatory response prepared by counsel for Stanford which in part slightly conflicts with Stanford's sworn testimony at her deposition and hearing. That conflict does not go to the essence of the claim or the injury itself and the mistake was explained to the Commission..

The findings in this case are simply contrary to all the facts, biased, and unable to withstand the substantial basis test. Stanford did, in fact, sustain an injury on the job as she claims. All of the evidence on the part of the Employer and Carrier was circumstantial and biased while all of the evidence presented by the Claimant was factual. In placing all of the weight on the circumstantial evidence and biased testimony, and none on the factual evidence, the ALJ's decision is flawed and does not come close to following the intent of the Act.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION

Claimant filed her Petition to Controvert with the Mississippi Workers Compensation

Commission on or about January 4, 2007. (Record Excerpt, Page 1). A hearing on the matter was held before Administrative Law Judge Virginia Mounger on March 31, 2009 with an order entered on June 16, 2009. (R.E. 3). The Claimant appealed the ALJ's unfavorable ruling to the Full Commission. The Full Commission entered an order upholding the ALJ's decision on November 18, 2009, which was then appealed to the Circuit Court of Union County. (R.E. 22). The Circuit Court Judge entered an opinion on July 28, 2010, stating only that the Commission's findings were based on

substantial evidence and were not arbitrary and capricious. (R.E.72). The Claimant then appealed that decision to this Court on or about August 4, 2010. (R.E. 73).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Martha Stanford was employed as an over-the-road team truck driver when she was injured. She has a 7th grade education, received a GED, and attended vocational training in interior decoration as a young woman. (ALJ Order, P. 3, Hearing Record, P.19 (R.E. 5). All of Stanford's relevant employment has been as an over-the-road truck driver. (Id.). She was employed as such by Defendant V.F. Jeanswear for 14 years prior to her injury, but has since been terminated due to being unable to return to work. (Hearing Transcript, 12:29)(R.E. 24).

Late in the evening of February 7, 2006, Martha Stanford was pulling into a truck scales location in the suburbs of New Orleans with her husband William Stanford, who was her team driver. Stanford was ill and decided to rest until morning. After parking the truck, Stanford was exiting the driver's seat to enter the sleeper area, where her husband was, when she tripped over a cooler located between the truck's seats. This resulted in Stanford's falling backward into the sleeper of the truck and injuring herself. (ALJ Order, P. 3)(R.E. 5).

Stanford's fall knocked her unconscious. She was revived by her husband's putting cold water on her face. After she regained consciousness, she went to lay down in the sleeper to rest until morning. (ALJ Order, P.4)(R.E. 6). Prior to sleeping, Stanford attempted to contact her dispatcher to notify him of her injury, but was unable to reach anyone because of the time of night. Even though there was no absolute requirement that she even had to call her dispatcher, Stanford called Tom Swinton, the lead dispatcher, the next morning to report she had fallen and was injured and needed to return home to seek medical treatment. (Id.).

Swinton instructed Stanford to contact the terminal manager, Keith Horton, to report her injury. Horton arranged for a trip back for Mrs. Stanford's team partner, her spouse. They proceeded

directly back to her home terminal in Saltillo, Mississippi, as instructed, possibly dropping a load in Gulfport which was on the route home. (Id.). During the trip home, Stanford placed a phone call to two of her sisters and a friend to inform them about her injury. (Id.).

Upon returning home on February 8, 2006, Stanford went to Dr. Allie Prater in New Albany for treatment of her injuries. Dr. Prater's clinic was full that day and the physicians were unable to treat everyone that arrived. (See Motion to Admit Dr. Jason Dees' Affidavit as New Evidence, Attached as Exhibit "A"). Upon orders of the physicians, the clinic nurses sent everyone home, including Stanford, who returned the next day, February 9, 2006, and was treated by Dr. Jason Dees at the same clinic.¹

Since the accident, Stanford has undergone four surgeries: a cervical spine fusion, a second back surgery, carpal tunnel surgery, and a procedure to remove infection which developed following the carpal tunnel surgery. (ALJ Order, P. 5)(R.E. 7). Prior to the injury at issue, Stanford never had any significant medical problems nor had she filed a workers' compensation claim.

Stanford has been unable to return to work since the date of her injury and is now unable to work as a truck driver because of permanent restrictions against lifting and/or bending. (ALJ Order, P. 4)(R.E. 6). She is unaware of any work she would be able to perform even though she would like to work if she were able and has applied for work at six or more places but has not been able to find employment. (ALJ Order, P. 5)(R.E. 7).

Claimant can petition the Court to allow new evidence at any time up to and including a final appeal in workers compensation cases. Should this Court hold that the doctor's affidavit is not admissible as new evidence, it is still within its authority to take legal notice of the fact that Claimant went to the doctor on the first day of her return, but was not allowed to see him until the next day. This was a critical point in the ALJ's decision and equity and the spirit of the Workers' Compensation Act allows this for a court seeking the truth.

A hearing was held before Administrative Law Judge Virginia Mounger on March 31, 2009, concerning the question as to whether or not Stanford suffered a work-related injury, and if so, the existence, nature and extent of disability that could be attributed to that injury. (ALJ Order, P. 1)(R.E. 3). The fact, however, that so many other irrelevant issues were included in the order shows clear bias on the ALJ's behalf. Even though the ALJ stated the "one issue" to be considered was whether Stanford suffered a work-related injury, she showed a total lack of regard for the very issue she identified, and hardly addressed that "one issue."

The ALJ and the Commission found Stanford to be not credible without specifying any reason, or identifying any proof they found to be not credible. The ruling by the ALJ and the Commission was clearly erroneous, arbitrary and capricious, with no substantial basis, and in violation of the case law in Mississippi. *Adolphe Lafont USA, Inc. v. Ayers*, 958 So. 2d 833 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is on appeal before the Court solely on the question of whether a work related injury occurred. The Claimant met her burden of proof in showing that there was a work related injury through factual evidence with unbiased witness testimony along with medical testimony from the Claimant's treating neuro-surgeon. The Administrative Law Judge showed clear bias in ignoring the Claimant's proof and by placing great weight upon that of the Employer and Carrier when the Employer and Carrier's evidence consisted wholly of circumstantial evidence and testimony of their own employees who were under orders to appear and testify rather than under subpoena.

The ALJ acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner in finding no work injury existed. There was no substantial basis nor supporting facts for her decision, only weak and biased circumstantial evidence.

Appellees previously set forth more than ten different points to be considered, all of which were either

non-probative, biased or innuendo only. Appellant asks this court to consider the following points, all of which are fact-based only:

- In addition to her other witnesses, Stanford put on two completely disinterested and unbiased witnesses to corroborate her case establishing a work injury; the Employer/Carrier put on only one manager for the Employer and an employee who was "ordered" to testify for the Employer/Carrier;
- Stanford's work injury was substantiated by an eyewitness.
- The only medical proof, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, was by Dr. Glen Crosby, Stanford's primary treating physician, whose opinion was that Stanford sustained a work injury as she claims. He also opined that Stanford is truthful.
- There was no explanation from the Employer/Carrier for how Stanford could have sustained her injuries other than from work as she testified, and no testimony at all of an intervening injury or injury other than as Stanford testified.
- The ALJ and Commission never stated any basis for disputing Stanford's work injury other than they did not believe her.
- The ALJ and Commission completely misquoted Dr. Johnny Mitias about his being told by Stanford that she did not have a work injury, and Dr. Mitias never testified. No statement by him was qualified as being to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.
- Stanford's live testimony in her deposition and at her hearing were 100% consistent as to how her
 work injury happened. Only one part of one interrogatory prepared by her attorney was in conflict
 as to how Stanford's work injury happened, yet the ALJ and Commission took as most probative
 that one small conflict.
- Although the ALJ and Commission found Stanford to be less than credible, there was never any finding of any possibility of an injury that was contrary to her testimony.
- Stanford was working with no restrictions until the date of, and at the time of, her work injury, and has not worked one day since. The ALJ and Commission had no explanation for this, and never commented on it.
- There is no example in the opinion of the ALJ and Commission where Stanford is found to be telling less than the truth although she was found to be less than credible.
- The ALJ and Commission attempted to offer their own medical proof and opinions in place of that of Dr. Glen Crosby, Stanford's primary treating neuro-surgeon. This point alone clearly shows bias, and that their opinion was arbitrary and capricious.

Even with all of these occurrences pointed out, the Circuit Court stated only that the Commission's findings were based on substantial evidence and were not arbitrary and capricious. There

was no finding of fact or any explanation at all about where this substantial evidence could be found. To repeat, there has <u>never</u> been any finding of specific substantial evidence.

Regardless of how many points have been briefed and argued, the ALJ only listed one issue in her initial decision - whether or not Claimant suffered a work injury. After considering clear factual evidence that there was, indeed, a work injury, the ALJ should have found in favor of the Claimant. Instead, the ALJ exhibited various occurrences of bias when questioning the Claimant's credibility. The bias against the Claimant led to an arbitrary and capricious decision with no substantial basis. There was, in fact, no basis for the ALJ to find there was not a work related injury.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews the decision of the Commission, not that of the circuit court. *Delta CMI v. Speck*, 586 So. 2d 768, 773 (Miss. 1991) (quoting Vardaman S. Dunn, Mississippi Workmen's Compensation § 286 n.39 (1982) ("While appeals to the Supreme Court are technically from the decision of the Circuit Court, the decision of the Commission is that which is actually under review for all practical purposes.")).

In reviewing an agency's rulings, the Court must consider four rules. The agency ruling must remain undisturbed unless the ruling (1) is not supported by substantial evidence, (2) is arbitrary or capricious, (3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, or (4) violates one's constitutional or statutory rights. *Public Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014, 1018 (Miss. 2003) (quoting *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d 973, 976 (Miss. 1999).

Review is limited to a determination of whether or not the decision of the Commission is supported by substantial evidence. The Court has the "substantial evidence standard," as follows:

Substantial evidence . . . means something more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence, and that it does not rise to the level of "a preponderance of the evidence." It may be said that it "means such relevant evidence as

reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is, affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred."

Id. (Citing United States v. Harper, 450 F.2d 1032 (5th Cir. 1971)(Quoting Johnson v. Ferguson, 435
So. 2d 1191 (Miss. 1983)); Babcock & Wilcox Co. v. McClain, 149 So. 2d 523 (Miss. 1963); State Oil
& Gas Bd. v. Miss. Mineral & Royalty Owners Ass'n, 258 So. 2d 767 (Miss. 1971)).

Where no evidence or only a scintilla of evidence supports a Worker's Compensation

Commission decision, the courts have not hesitated to reverse. *Metal Trims Industries v. Stovall*, 562

So. 2d 1293, 1297 (Miss. 1990); *Universal Manufacturing Co. v. Barlow*, 260 So.2d 827 (Miss. 1972). Where the matter may be an even question, the Mississippi Supreme Court has found and will likely continue to find in favor of the injured worker. *Metal Trims Industries v. Stovall*, 562 So. 2d 1293, 1297 (Miss. 1990); *Jackson v. Bailey*, 234 Miss. 697, 107 So.2d 593 (1959); *Big '2' Engine Rebuilders v. Freeman*, 379 So.2d 888 (Miss. 1980).

The second rule states that a reviewing court may reverse if the Commission's order was "arbitrary or capricious." *Public Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014, 1018 (Miss. 2003). To some extent, this test overlaps the substantial-evidence standard. The Commission decision must be supported by substantial evidence, rather than arbitrary and capricious. *Walker Mfg.*, 577 So. 2d at 1247; *Hardin's Bakeries v. Dependent of Harrell*, 566 So. 2d 1261, 1264 (Miss. 1990); *Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Veal*, 484 So. 2d 1025, 1027-28 (Miss. 1986). The Court has explained, "If an administrative agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence, it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious." *Dearman*, 846 So. 2d at 1019 (quoting *Fulce v. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys.*, 759 So. 2d 401, 404 (Miss. 2000)).

The definitions of arbitrary and capricious are listed below:

"Arbitrary" means fixed or done capriciously or at pleasure. An act is arbitrary when it is done without adequately determining principle; not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone, -

absolute in power, tyrannical, despotic, non-rational, -implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the fundamental nature of things.

"Capricious" means freakish, fickle, or arbitrary. An act is capricious when it is done without a reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles...

City of Petal v. Dixie Peanut Co., 2008 WL 2098031 (Miss.App.) at *2 (Citing Harrison County Bd. v. Carlo Corp., 833 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss. 2002) (Quoting McGowan v. Miss. State Oil & Gas Bd., 604 So.2d 312, 322 (Miss. 1992)). Black's Law Dictionary defines arbitrary and capricious as "Characterization of a decision or action taken by an administrative agency or inferior court meaning willful and unreasonable action without consideration or in disregard of facts or law or without determining principle."

The third rule involves questions of law when determining whether the Commission exceeded its authority. A Commission decision can be overturned for an error of law. *Walker Mfg Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So.2d 1243, 1247 (Miss. 1991); V. Dunn, Mississippi Workmen's Compensation § 272 (3d ed. 1982), or an unsupportable finding of fact, *Metal Trims Industries v. Stovall*, 562 So.2d 1293, 1297 (Miss. 1990). If prejudicial error is found, the matter shall be reversed and the circuit court shall enter such judgment as the Commission should have entered. *Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1247 (Miss. 1991)(Citing Mississippi Code Annotated § 71-3-51 (1972)).

The fourth rule concerns constitutional and statutory rights. The Court can review alleged violations of rights under both the state and federal constitutions. *Warren v. Miss. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 700 So. 2d 608 (Miss. 1997); *Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. McLaurin*, 370 So. 2d 1359 (Miss. 1979); *Pathfinder Coach Div. of Superior Coach Corp. v. Cottrell*, 216 Miss. 358, 62 So. 2d 383 (1953). The Court uses a de novo standard of review when passing on questions of law. *Tupelo Pub. Sch. Dist. v. Parker*, 912 So. 2d 1070 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)(Citing *Ellis v. Anderson Tully Co.*, 727 So. 2d 716, 718 (Miss. 1998)).

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