IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-WC-01284

MARTHA KAY STANFORD

APPELLANT

v.

V.F. JEANSWEAR, L.P. and FIDELITY & GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- Martha K. Stanford, Appellant;
- William Stanford, Claimant's spouse;
- Bill Rutledge and Valarie Hancock, Appellant's counsel;
- V.F. Jeanswear, LP, Appellee;

Statement of the Issues
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Argument
 a. Standard of Review
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF CASES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u>

2 S

Bryan Foods, Inc. v. White, 913 So.2d 1003 (18) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So.2d 768 (Miss. 1991)9
Dunn v. Dunn, 786 So.2d 1045 (Miss. 2001)16
Green v. Glen Oaks Nursing Center, 722 So. 2d 147 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998)
Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr., 687 So. 2d 1221 (Miss. 1997)
Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision, 856 So.2d 503 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) 10, 17
Howard Indus. v. Robinson, 846 So.2d 245 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) 10, 17
McDowell v. Smith, 856 So.2d 581 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719 (Miss. 2002)
Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 853 So.2d 776 (Miss. 2003)
White v. Superior Products, Inc., 515 So. 2d 924 (Miss. 1987)

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

<u>،</u> د

Oral Argument Not Requested, but Not Opposed.

V.F. Jeanswear and Fidelity & Guaranty Insurance Company believe the issues presented to the Court in this appeal are settled issues of law which need no explanation by way of oral argument. The Claimant has requested oral argument and should the Court feel the same would be beneficial to its understanding of the case, the request is not opposed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

÷ .

1. Whether the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission lacks the support of substantial evidence concerning its unanimous conclusion that the Claimant failed to sustain her burden of proof in establishing a work-related injury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

. .

This is a workers' compensation matter. Martha Kay Stanford, Claimant, alleges she was injured in a work-related incident on either February 7, February 8, or possibly February 9, 2006, when she allegedly fell inside the cab of her truck. Appellant's Record Excerpts at page 1; MWCC Transcript at pages 35, 66. No worker's compensation benefits were paid by the Employer because the alleged injury was not reported and in fact was not work-related. Appellant's Record Excerpts at page 3 - 22 (ALJ and Full Commission Orders).

On January 4, 2007, more than a year and two major surgeries after her alleged injury, the Claimant filed a claim for worker's compensation benefits. Appellant's Record Excerpts at page 1. During that period she had been receiving short-term disability benefits not available for work-related injuries. MWCC Transcript beginning on page 71.

This matter was tried before Administrative Judge Virginia Mounger on March 31, 2009. Judge Mounger, by Order dated June 16, 2009, denied the claim for benefits. Appellant's Record Excerpts beginning at page 3. The Claimant appealed to the Full Commission on June 29, 2009. The Full Commission heard oral argument on November 16, 2009, and by Order dated November 18, 2009, (just two days later!) *unanimously* affirmed the administrative judge. Appellant's Record Excerpts at page 22. The Claimant filed an appeal with the Circuit Court of Union County. The Circuit Court, after having received briefs and hearing oral arguments, determined that "the Commission had substantial evidence to support its findings", thus affirmed the ruling of the Commission. Appellant's Record Excerpts at page 72. The Claimant then filed the instant appeal. Appellant's Record Excerpts at page 73.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Martha Kay Stanford had the burden to show all the essential elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence. She failed and consequently her case was dismissed. In her brief, the Claimant goes to great length to try to bolster her credibility, but failed to convince the finder of fact of that very issue. The Commission ultimately did not regard the Claimant as credible. The Claimant's story has been inconsistent on just about every point: The date of injury has changed three times; the injury was not reported to anyone for more than two years; she received short term disability benefits based upon her own representation that her condition was not work-related; and she went on a cruise vacation between her injury and substantive medical treatment and was observed, both by a traveling companion and on videotape produced as the trial of this matter (which she attempted to sequester from discovery), to be in no apparent distress despite her claim that she has been permanently totally disabled since the alleged injury. The Claimant's testimony was contradicted even down to the details of what route she took on her alleged mad dash home for medical treatment (which, incidentally, was not rendered until the following afternoon). The finder of fact had substantial evidence to reject her claims for a work-related injury.

Furthermore, the medical evidence in this matter belies her testimony. These records, beginning the day after her alleged injury and continuing through four operations spanning two years, all describe conditions which were chronic and pre-existing. Not one single provider's records contain a history of an accident so severe that she supposedly lost consciousness. In fact, most of those records expressly indicate that she had *not* suffered an injury. It was not until more than two years after her injury, after her short-term disability benefits had expired and she had instituted this claim, that she first described her alleged injury to her operative surgeon. Even this was preceded

by a letter from her attorney to the physician attempting to explain why his notes were missing any such history and, in fact, the medical record contained a contrary history. In other words, it was not until the Claimant had consulted with her attorney did this alleged injury ever appear in a single medical record.

.

The Commission's decision is absolutely supported by substantial evidence, is not arbitrary or capricious, nor does it contain any error of law. Therefore, the Commission must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

a. Standard of Review

The scope of review in workers compensation cases is restricted both by caselaw and statute. The decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission is subject to a limited standard of appellate review. *Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc.*, 853 So.2d 776, 778 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2003). The Full Commission resolves conflicts in the evidence and the Court must defer to its factual findings. *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.*, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1225 (Miss. 1997).¹ The Court can reverse the Commission only where the Commission's decision lacked the support of substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious, or contained an error of law. *Weatherspoon*, 853 So.2d at 778.

So long as there is a substantial basis for the Commission's decision, it must be affirmed, even if this Court when acting as the trier of fact would have been convinced otherwise. *Green v. Glen Oaks Nursing Center*, 722 So. 2d 147 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). Substantial evidence is something less than a preponderance of the evidence and is "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Delta CMI v. Speck*, 586 So.2d 768, 773 (Miss. 1991).

The injured employee bears the general burden of proof of establishing every essential element of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence. She must show that: an accidental injury occurred arising out of and in the course of her employment; a disability was suffered; and a causal connection between the work injury and the claimed disability exists. *Bryan Foods, Inc. v. White*, 913 So.2d 1003, 1008 (18) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). The causal connection between the claimant's

When the Commission accepts the administrative law judge's findings and conclusions, those findings and conclusions are treated as being those of the Commission. *McDowell v. Smith*, 856 So.2d 581, 585 (\P 10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

injury and disability must be proven with competent medical proof and based upon a reasonable degree of medical probability. *Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision*, 856 So.2d 503, 511 (30) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); *Howard Indus. v. Robinson*, 846 So.2d 245, 252 (49) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

b. The Claimant Proposes an Incorrect Standard of Review

Despite the preceding standard of review, which is well attested in the case law, the Claimant's Brief asks the Court to do precisely what it cannot: to re-weigh the evidence and come to a conclusion contrary to that of the Commission.

In her Brief the Claimant continues to incorrectly state that the burden of persuasion was upon the Employer/Carrier to disprove her alleged injury, e.g. to prove a negative by a preponderance of the evidence. For example, on page one of her brief, the Claimant argues "<u>The Employer/Carrier never showed any evidence that Stanford was injured in any other</u> <u>manner</u>."² (Emphasis in original). The theme is replete throughout the Claimant's Brief. *Cf.* Appellant's Brief at page 2 ("Not one witness testified Stanford was not injured while working."); page 11 ("Employer has <u>never</u> established or produced <u>any</u> records or evidence of another injury") page 21 ("<u>Nobody</u> testified Stanford did not injure herself as she stated, nor explained any other reason for her injuries."); page 25 ("Nothing was produced to show Mrs. Stanford was not injured while in her truck and working for her employer as she claims.")

Additionally, the Claimant would have the Court fall into the logical pit of assuming

As just one example of the difficulty of disproving a negative, the Employer/Carrier would show that there may in fact have been no other injury giving rise to her medical issues. As discussed elsewhere, Dr. Crosby described the Claimant's condition as chronic and of an "insidious onset." The Claimant would have the Employer/Carrier be responsible for an injury that never occurred simply because they could not demonstrate that something else (an intervening injury) also never occurred.

something occurred simply because there was some evidence that her condition at a point after the trip was different from that before the trip. As a purported example of the "complete bias in favor of the Employer and Carrier" by the administrative judge, the Claimant references witnesses Rhonda Butler and Jack Fanning. Appellant's Brief at page 20. Both witnesses testified that the Claimant was healthy before she set out on her trip and was disabled at a remote time afterward. The Claimant then makes a leap too far, arguing that this before/after evidence is probative of what happened in the interim. Before/after evidence may be useful to show a change in condition, but it does nothing to enlighten us as to the cause of the change.

4 .

c. The Claimant Invents Explanations for Inconsistent Evidence

In an attempt to bolster her credibility, which the Commission severely discounted, the Claimant's Brief spends page after page offering clever explanations for inconsistencies in her version of events. *Cf.* Brief of Appellant at pages 3-4 (explaining inconsistency in Claimant's route by subtly adding "possibly dropping a load in Gulfport" to the Claimant's testimony which denied any such diversion); page 10 (attempting to explain the absence of any accident history in first medical treatment using speculative phrases such as "Even had she", "was not likely to think of", and "very probable she could have"); page 13 (arguing that doctor's record stating "No injury that started this" was "merely one doctor's conjecture", as if licensed medical doctors are somehow in the habit of creating patient histories); page 18 (hypothesizing that witness Rupley "was likely being paid for her time"); page 23 (proposing that "No average employee with a 7th grade education would know" certain things). In doing so the Claimant attempts to carefully weave a theme of speculation that contradicts the facts presented to the Commission.

d. The Claimant Was Not Credible

The Commission found that the Claimant failed to sustain her burden of proof for two principal reasons: first, the Claimant was not credible; and second, the medical evidence did not support the occurrence of a work-related injury. Each of these issues will be addressed in turn.

The Commission found that the Claimant was not credible and thus it was free to, and properly did, reject her testimony. *White v. Superior Products, Inc.*, 515 So. 2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1987) (commission may reject claimant's uncorroborated testimony if it is improbable, incredible, unreasonable or shown to be untrustworthy). The Commission, as the finder of fact, is entitled to considerable deference in making judgments as to the credibility of witnesses.

Neither the administrative judge, who personally received her testimony, nor the Full Commission, which independently reviewed the entirety of the evidence produced at trial, found the Claimant believable. There is ample support for such a conclusion. Although there are many more, the Employer/Carrier would offer the following eleven examples, organized by topic:

- 1. Immediate Disability
 - a. The Claim: The Claimant's neck has hurt constantly ever since her accident, has prevented her from working at any time, and she is unable to turn or lean without pain. MWCC Hearing Transcript at pages 50-52, 80.
 - b. The Reality: The videographic evidence introduced at trial showed the Claimant riding a horse, leaning back while wildly waiving at the camera, and vigorously rubbing ice on the bare chests of men while on a cruise shortly after the accident. See MWCC Exhibits 16 & 17;³ MWCC Exhibit 9 is still photographs of the same

The relevant portion of Exhibit 16 is Chapter 4, "Beach Horseback Riding", at minutes 22:40,

activity. The Claimant's former friend, Sally Jo Rupley, testified that she traveled with the Claimant on the whole vacation and at no time observed her to be in pain or limited in her activities. MWCC Transcript at page 139.

- 2. Report of Injury to Operative Surgeon
 - a. The Claimant reported how she was injured to Dr. Crosby at the first visit on March
 31, 2006. MWCC Hearing Transcript at page 69.
 - b. On March 31, 2006, Dr. Crosby recorded an "insidious" onset of neck pain. Dr. Crosby was not aware of any claim of work relation until May 30, 2008, following a letter from the Claimant's attorney dated May 27, 2008. MWCC Exhibit 1, Deposition of Dr. Crosby at pages 20-21; MWCC Exhibit 1 at page 69/72. Restated, the first report of a work connection to the operative surgeon was given by the Claimant's attorney more than two years and four surgeries after her first visit with Dr. Crosby.
- 3. How the Accident Occurred
 - a. The Claim: Claimant stated in her Petition to Controvert and sworn discovery responses that she was injured when her truck stopped abruptly, throwing her "out of the seat and into a cooler/refrigerator. She landed with her back and neck against the cooler." See MWCC Exhibit 7, Response to Interrogatory No. 10.
 - b. The Reality: At trial the Claimant testified that she tripped over the cooler while going to the cab of the truck; the truck was not moving during any of this. MWCC

^{26:52, 27:00, 31:01, 32:01, 34:06, 35:42} and 38:31. On Exhibit 17, the cruise line's promotional video, Ms. Stanford is seen beginning at approximately minute 52, which is chapter 10, entitled "Hairy Chest."

Transcript at pages 16-17, 45. She testified she fell backwards with her back on the cooler and her head striking the bed, not the cooler, causing a loss of consciousness. MWCC Transcript at page 45.

4. Time and Location of Accident

s .

- a. The Claim: The injury occurred between 10 p.m. and 12 a.m. while parking in a suburb of New Orleans. MWCC Transcript at page 17.
- b. The Reality: She did not arrive outside New Orleans until 3 a.m. the following day.
 MWCC Transcript at page 36; MWCC Exhibit 6, page 2/19.
- 5. Reporting of the Accident
 - a. The Claim: The Claimant advised the evening dispatcher of her injury immediately after it occurred, and the head dispatcher (Tom Swinton) as well as the terminal manager (Keith Horton) a few hours later. MWCC Transcript at pages 18, 20 and 24.
 - b. The Reality: No one at the Employer received notice of an injury. MWCC Transcript at page 152; MWCC Exhibit 5. Tom Swinton received no report of injury from the Claimant. MWCC Exhibit 5. Keith Horton vehemently denied receiving any notification of an injury from the Claimant. MWCC Transcript at page 150-151.
- 6. The Route Home After the Accident
 - a. The Claim: The Claimant drove straight back from Louisiana to Saltillo. MWCC
 Transcript at page 19. The Claimant additionally alleged the Employer cheated her
 out of her pay for the return trip. MWCC Transcript at pages 71 and 91.
 - b. The Reality: The Claimant went from the New Orleans area to Gulfport, where she delivered one load and picked up another, before returning to Saltillo. MWCC

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